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LETTER BY THE SWISS MINISTER TO THE
PRESIDENT OF THE SWISS RELIEF CENTRE.

18, Montagu Place,
Bryanston Square, W.l.

18th July, 1940.
Monsieur le Président,

Last week you were kind enough to invite Madame
Thurnheer and myself to visit the " Swiss Relief
Centre." We both were very glad to have the oppor-
tunity of viewing this new establishment which we
inspected from top to bottom. We were particularly
impressed by the perfect neatness, the excellent plan-
ning and the arrangement of the various rooms ; every-
thing is simple, practical and friendly. One can see

that each member of the Committee and of their sub-
committees, to all of whom T am most grateful, have
done their utmost to obtain the best result with the
funds at their disposal.

This brings me to the question of the donators. 1

have looked through the records of the contributions
in money and kind and was extremely pleased with the
results of the collection. It shows plainly that there
exists the right spirit in the London Colony when an
appeal is made for the creation of a useful institution.
There is good reason to be proud of such a Colony
and I should like to express my sincere thanks to all
the generous contributors.

If you wish to publish this letter in the " Swiss
Observer," I gladly authorize you to do so.

Believe me to be, Monsieur le Président,
yours sincerely,

W. Thuknheek,
Ministre de Suisse.

THE RHAETIAN RAILWAY.

An Uncelebrated Centenary.

(" Modern Transport," 13.7.40.)

Visitors in pre-war days to the Rhaetian Alps and
the Engadine had reason to know the Rhaetian Rail-
way, which gave them access to such resorts as Davos
and St. Moritz, and carried them, through dizzy twists
and turns, across improbably high-looking viaducts,
through some of the most superb mountain country in
Europe. In the autumn of last year, the company cele-
brated their jubilee, or, rather, they would have cele-
brated it but for the intervention of war. Half a cen-

tury ago, eastern Switzerland was one of the more
particularly inaccessible regions of the Continent. It
was possible to skirt the Engadine by rail; within,
lumbering diligences in summer and picturesquely in-
efficient sleighs in winter served rather to emphasise
the quite frightening remoteness of the mountain vil-
lages. It was an impossible country for the construe-
tion of orthodox standard gauge railways.

But where the standard gauge might not penetrate,
the metre gauge could, and, in the early autumn of
1889, the first section of what was to be the present
Rhaetian Railway system was completed between

Landquart, where connection was made with the stan-
dard gauge United Swiss system, and Klosters. A
festal trial trip, complete with the traditional brass
band on an open car in the rear, was made on Septem-
her 29tli, and the regular train service followed on
October 9th. This initial section had a length of 20|
miles. It was extended a further 10£ miles, south-
wards from Klosters, in July of the following year,
and for the first time Davos, already known as a
resort, was connected with the main European railway
system. In 1896 an isolated stretch of metre gauge
line was opened further south, between Cliur and
Thusis, but in the same summer the intervening gap
between Cliur and Landquart was tilled up. These
four sections gave the infant system, at the turn of the
century, a route mileage of slightly over 57 miles. In
July, 1904, the completion of the necessarily devious
Albula Railway, with its famous tunnel, linked up
Thusis with St. Moritz. By July, 1913, the Rhaetian
Railway system had attained its present form, extend-
ing south to Pontresina, east to Sohuls, and west to
Disentis, comprising in all 164| miles of route.

To-day, the Rhaetian Railway, in itself a remai'k-
ably extensive and efficient example of a narrow gauge
railway, forms a link in an even more extensive metre
gauge system. The Bernina Railway, in the south,
provides an outlet to northern Italy from Pontresina;
westwards from Disentis (reached by the Rhaetian
lines in 1912) a through route extends, by means of
the Furka-Oberalp Railway and the Visp-Zermatt
Railway, far down through Andermatt, Gletsch and
Brig to the foot of the Matterhorn. Present appen-
dages of the Rhaetian include the truly remarkable
Davos-Parsenn funicular railway, one of the newest
Swiss lines, which materialised at the beginning of the
early nineteen thirties.

The original line was operated by a company
calling itself the Landquart-Davos Narrow-Gauge
Railway, having its headquarters at Davos. The
Rhaetian Railway Company, as we know it to-day,
received its title in 1899. The company has for years
had its headquarters at Cliur, while the locomotive,
carriage and wagon works are at Landquart, the
original starting point.

Throughout the system, in spite of the narrow
gauge railway propensity for slipping round corners
and zigzagging down slopes, the Rhaetian Railway is
rich in major engineering features. The Albula Tun-
nel, between I Ted a and Spinas, carrying a single
metre-gauge track, is 6,414 yd. in length, and was
begun in October, 1899. Very severe trouble was en-
countered with underground springs, and the bore was
not completed until the end of February, 1903. The
railway's struggle with natural forces was not ended
merely by the completion of the system. Nature
having her own way of hitting back sometimes, espeei-
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ally in mountainous country sucli as the Rhaetian
Alps.

In the summer of 1910, and again in 1927, a tre-
mendous amount of damage was done by flooding. On
April 29tli, 19.17, a train was struck by an avalanche
near Davos, and ten persons were killed. More than
once trains have collided with fallen rocks, and on
August 3rd, 1931, a tremendous landslide struck a
train between Filisur and Stuls. The track was
destroyed over a distance of some 250 ft., and the
driver of the train was killed. No passengers suffered
severely, though the locomotive and two vehicles were
thrown to a considerably lower level and much
damaged. The heavy electric locomotive had, in the
end, to be taken to pieces where it lay, and conveyed
home via the mountain road which, at that point, ran
below the railway, further down the mountain side.
As far as is humanly possible, the Rhaetian Railway
system is now protected throughout against such
natural attacks, its defensive masonry work and ava-
lanche-tunnels being on a scale in harmony with the
long Albula Tunnel, with the great Wiesener, Land-
wa ;-er, and other viaducts, and with the astounding
loops and spirals on the Albula line south of Filisur.

Coming to locomotives and rolling stock, the
Rhaetian Railway — or rather the Landquart-Davos
— began its active life with live 2-6-0 tank engines,
built in 1889, and capable of hauling a load of 45
metric tons up a 45 per ceut. gradient at not less than
9.3 miles an hour. A similar, though larger engine,
still does duty as station and yard pilot at Landquart
to-day, the 2-6-0 type having been perpetuated over
some years, the general design remaining little altered.
In the early years of this century eight articulated
Mallet compounds were built for the Albula line.
Thereafter, the standard Rhaetian locomotive, as far
as steam traction was concerned, was the 2-8-0 with
a separate tender. The original design was a two-
cylinder compound; latterly, boiler dimensions were
increased and simple expansion, using superheated
steam, became the rule. The last steam locomotive
was built in 1915, by which time the company owned
57 engines altogether.

Electrification of at least certain stretches of the
Rhaetian Railway was mooted as far back as 1906.
The reasons for electrification were the same as those
which have applied to so many Swiss railways —
gradients, high cost of fuel, the existence of ample
water power in the district served, and the possibility,
with electric traction, of recreating energy by re-
generative braking on down-hill stretches. These
recommendations were all brought forward at a meet-
ing of the company in March, 1905, but the scheme was
nevertheless shelved.

It was not, however, dropped, and the Bevers-
Schuls line, in the Engadine, was scheduled for experi-
mental traction on the single-phase system (11,000 V.,
16f cycles). The Brusio Power Station undertook to
supply current for traction purposes, and a sub-station
was erected at Bevers. Between August, 1911, and
July, 1913, 384 miles of route in the Engadine were
equipped for electric traction. Throughout the first
war period, when, as now, steam traction was at a
particular disadvantage, the electrified lines gave the
highest satisfaction, and from 1919 to 1922 the wliole
of the system was converted to electric working.

A SWISS RUNNING SHED.
(" 4/odern jP-rausporf13.7.40.)

Only with the completion of the Manchester-
Sheffield electrification on the L.N.E.R. will the
British locomotive man come to know the peculiarities
of the running-shed which accommodates a large mini-
her of both steam and electric locomotives. In Swit-
zerland, where three-quarters of the main line system
is electrically operated, such a thing is, of course, a

commonplace. In fact, the average running-shed ol
the Swiss Federal Railways is distinguished by the
fact that it exists for the convenience of handling and
housing electric locomotives, and that it accommodates
steam engines as a sort of side line. In the big run-
ning-sheds at Zürich, for example, there are stationed
156 electric locomotives of various types, and 40 steam
locomotives. The former work on nearly all services'
radiating from Ziirich ; the latter, consisting of a very
limited number of classes — 4-6-0, 2-6-2T and 0-6-0
shunting tanks — serve as reserve engines, as yard
shunters, and on such relatively unimportant services
a,s are still entrusted purely to steam traction. One
of the first things one sees on approaching the shed,
for example, is a 4-0-0 of 1916 vintage, gently simmer-
ing at the head of a breakdown train, and seemingly
never moving. The atmosphere of the shed is electric,
though not in the usual figurative sense of the phrase.
It is designed to accommodate the electric locomotive
to best advantage, and is not a steam shed adapted;
rather, the steam locomotive seems to be there almost
on sufferance. An electric locomotive's " shed day,"
infrequently as it occurs nowadays, is something of a
revelation. It lasts six working hours. Formerly, a
locomotive came in for light overhaul once a month :

now, unless some unexpected defect occurs it takes
place only once in three months. Every fourteenth
day, a locomotive is due for cleaning, and the way in
which this is carried out is another revelation.

At Zürich the cleaning-shed is an appendage of
the main running-sheds, with which it. is connected by
a traverser. The old roundhouse, with a central turn-
table, is still fairly common in Switzerland, but it is
definitely a survival from steam days. The cleaning-
shed at Ziirich can hold four electric locomotives at a
time, on two tracks. There are the usual pits between
the rails, and the working platforms on each side of
the tracks are also at a lower level to facilitate access
to the lower external parts. For the cleaning of
working parts, hot water is employed at a pressure of
227.5 lb. per sq. in., and at a temperature of 80-90 deg.
Centigrade (176-194 deg. Fahrenheit). The water in
the tank is forced into the pipes leading to the cleaning
nozzles by an electric compression unit. Formerly
air was introduced under pressure close to the nozzles
themselves, but this was found to induce an unwel-
come cooling effect to the water before it did its work.
The cleaning of the upper bodywork of electric locomo
tires and motor vehicles is carried out with thin oil.
A feature of the cleaning-shed is the lack of obstrue-
tion. Save for the cleaning nozzle connections, the
floor and pits are completely unencumbered. Never-
theless, the arrangements for lighting up the mechani-
cal parts of locomotives are complete and most effi-
cient. Along the walls are powerful electric lamps
sliding on runways, the frame supporting each set of
lamps l>eing roughly triangular, while similar lamps
are provided in the pits themselves.
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